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To the shareholders of

International Financial Advisors — KPSC

Kuwait

Repott on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Financial Advisors — KPSC — Kuwaiti
Public Shaceholding Company (the “Parent Company”} and its subsidiadies, (the “Group”}, which comprise
the consalidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated starement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
congolidated financial statemenss, inchuding a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group ss at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responaibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA
Code), and we have fulfilled our ethical responaibilities in accordance with the [ESBA Code. We belicve that
the audit cvidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to the following matters:

a) Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incutred & loss of
KID9,310,285 for the year ended 31 December 2017 and, as of that date, the Group’s curtent liabilities
exceeded its current assets by KID29,036,864.

b} Notes 7 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements which indicate that the Parent Company is currently
actively working to renegotiate loans that include certain past due instalments of its outstanding loans and
signed a preliminary agrecment subsequent to the reporting date to restructure loan amounting o
KIDD42,990,792 due to a foreign bank. Negotiations with the other bank are currently in progress.

These events ot conditions may indicatc that a material uncerminty exists that may affect the Group’s ability to
continue #s 4 going concern, Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Key Audic Marters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as 2 whole, and in forming our opinian thereon, and we do not
provide a sepamate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters desctibed below as the key audit
matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Sharcholders of
International Financial Advisors - KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ was issued in May 2014 and is effective for annual pediods
commencing on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted cither based on a full retrospective or
modified retrospective application, At the end of the year 2015, the Group reviewed the impact of IFRS 15 on
its revenue and elected to early adopt the standard using modified retrospective application from 1 January
2015. The resulting revenue is recognized as per the percentape of completion. The revenue recognized during
the year ended 31 December 2017 in respect of properties under development (completion) amounted to
KID26,595,333, which is considered matetial to the consolidated financial statements, and is based on significant
judgments and assumptions such as determining the percentage of completion at a point in time and assessing
how control passes to the buyer, which is significant to our audit. Accotdingly, we considered this s a key audit
matter.

Our audit prmcedures included, among others, using the teport of an independent valuation expert to verify the
percentage of completion of each development project as at the reporting date, and assessing the methods and
assumptions used by the expert, Furthet, we assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures in
zelation to the accouating policies adopted and the critical judgments and assumptions made.

Impairment of goodanll

The Group has goodwill with carrying value of KID38,550,102 25 at 31 Decernber 2017. The impairment test
of goodwill performed by an independent valuation expert is significant to our audir because the assessment of
recoverable amount of goodwill is complex and requires considerable judgements. Esumates of fature cash
flows are based on varables such as the growth, economic conditions such as the economic growth and
expected inflation rates and yield. Accordingly, we considered this as 2 key audit matter,

As part of our audit procedures, we abtained the valuation report of the independent expert and tested the
reasonableness of key assumptions, including profit forecasts and selection of growth rates and discount rates.
We challenged assumptions and tested the integrity of supporting calculations and corroborated cettain
information with third party sources. We further evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to ascettain
the impact of reasonably possible changes to key assumptions.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding those assumptions, which are disclosed in
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impasirment of properties under development
Under IFRS, the Group is required to carry its properties under development at the lower of cost and net

realizable value. This requires management to estimate the current market selling prices of the property units
and to compare them 1o the estimated coats of completing the units which remain unsold at year end. This
assessment requires significant management judgments and assumptions, speciaily over the estimated future
price at which a unit is likely to sell, and is prone to subjectivity since establishing the reliability of sources used
to draw compatisons of market prices is critical. Further, every seller in the market is expected to have a
different motive and dircumstance, and similarly every unit of property in a project may not have homogenonus
specifications. Accordingly, we considered this as 2 key audit matter.

Our audit procedutes included detesmination of the reasonableness of the estimated selling prices of the unsold
property units. We inquired and observed management’s estimates in the light of current market prices of
properties of comparable sizes and characteristics in the area through the use of online real estate trading
portals, a5 well as recent pattemn of variations between actual selling prices and pre-sale available selling prices.
We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in relation to the critical judgments and assumptions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
International Financial Advisors - KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Group awdst and subsidiaries

The Group has a large number of subsidiaries. which are significant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. The geographically dispersed structure imnctease the complexity of the Group’s control environment
and our ability as a Group auditor to obtzin zn appropriate level of understanding of these entities including
any related party transactions. Due to these factors and the significance of the subsidiaries to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, this is considered as 2 key sudit maiter.

Our audit procedures included, among othets, determining the nature and extent of sudit procedure to be
carried out for subsidiaries and selecting significant subsidiacies based on the size and/or tisk profile of these
subsidiarics. During our audit we considered the geographical diversity of Group’s structure and have extended
our involvement in local audit work pecformed by the component auditors. We organized meetings and held
discussions with components in our audit scope. We further discussed the audit approach with symificant
subsidiaries auditors and also provided detailed 1nstructions Lo them covering the significant areas and dsks to
be covered including the identification of related parries and transactons with them. We also set our the
informadon required to be reported back to us as part of the Group reporting.

Other information included in the Group’s 2017 annual report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, ptior to the date of our auditor’s
report and we expect to obmin the remaining sections of the Group’ Annual Report after the date of our
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, vur responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated finandial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materizlly misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained
pdor to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this tegard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Chatged with Governance fot the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is resporsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with TFRSs, as adopted for use in the State of Kuweit and for such intemal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to frand ot error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management of the Parent Company is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for oversecing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
International Financial Advisors - KPSC (continued)

Audifor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Finuncial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as &
whole are free from materal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 2 high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with I1SAs will always detect & material misstatement when it exiats. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate. they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated fnancial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and pectorm audit procedures responsive to those deks, and obtain audit evidence that
16 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
regulting from fraud ia higher than for one resulting from emor, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional ornissions, misrcpresentauons, or the override of internal contral.

* Obtain an understanding of intemnal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal conrol.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of aceounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether 2 material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as 2 going concern. If we conclude that a matetial
uncertainty exists, we are requited to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Out conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report, However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentaton.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the finandal information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated finandal staternents, We are tesponsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion,

We communicate with Those Charged with Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Those Charged with Governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other marters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and whete applicable, related safeguards,
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
International Financial Advisors - KPSC (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilitics for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statcments (continued)

From the matters communicated with Those Charged with Governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated finandal statements of the current year and aze therefore
the key aud:t matters. We describe these mattets in our auditor’s report unless law ot regulation predudes public
disclosure about the matter ar when, in extremely rare ditcumstances, we determine that & matter should not
be communicated in qur report because the advetse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to ourweigh the public interest bencfits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial smtements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that
we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations and by the Parent Company’s Memomndum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of out knowledge and
belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, the Executive Regulations, or of the Patent
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred dusing the
year ended 31 December 2017 that might have had s material effect on the business or the consolidated financial
position of the Parent Company, except for the matter referred to in Note 1 with respect to the vamnt position
of chief exccutive officer.

We further report that, during the course of our audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not
become aware of any material violations of the provisions of Law 7 of 2010, as amended, relating to the Capital
Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2017 that might have had a
material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware, of any material violations
of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concetning currency, the Central Bank of Kirwait and
the organisation of the banking business, and its related regulations duting the year ended 31 December 2017
that might have had 2 material effect on the business or fnancial position of the Parent Company.

Anwae Y, Al-Qatami, F.C.C.A.
(Licence No. 50-A)
of Grant Thomton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
29 Match 2018



Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dac. 31 Dec.
Nots 2017 2018
KD KD
Revenue
Intereat income 356,396 228,354
Management and consultancy fees 331,832 332,880
Dividend income 224,767 294,664
Net income from hotaliera and related services 1] 25,143,887 10,886,066
Net (loss)/gain from investmanis 10 (2,351,757 226,026
Gain on sale of subsidiaries - 4,810,795
Net gain from investment properties 11 445,234 3,335,383
Share of resulis of rssociates 2,229,028 3,203,178
Net gain/(loss) on sale of shares in invastment in associates 2,499,443 (541.528)
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 24 - 1.6801,206
Reversal of pravisions no longer required 12 4,638,500 53,338
Net other incoma 13 1,375,022 2,371,888
34,803,050 35,602,248
Expenses and other charges
Staff costs (5,085,376) {5,786,195)
Other operating expenses and charges {17,420,1885) (15,708,379)
Impaimment of investment in associates 20 {1,442,811) {30,759)
Impaiment of available for sale nvestments 18 {1,557,883) (1,519,085)
Impalment of goodwill 21 {1,603,787) -
Depreciation 24 {3,308,882) (3,640,231)
Finance coats (14,003,088) (12,234,270)
(44,551,880) (26,8088,918)
Loas before taxation (9,656,830) (3,200,071)
Taxation on averseas subsidiaries 345,645 164,327
Loss for the year (9,310,285) {3,132,344)
Loss for the year attributable to :
Owners of the Parent Company (6,203,009) (2,680,381)
Non-controlling interests (1,046,676} (441,083)
Losa for the year (9,310,288) (3,132,244)
Basic and dlluted loss per share attributable to the ownars of the
Parent Company 14 (12.28) Flls {4.00) Fils

The notes sst out on pages 12 to 74 form an iniegral part of these consolidated finandial statements,
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

Year sndad Yeaar anded
3 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Loss for the year {8,310,285) {3,132,344)
Other comprehensive income/(loss);
lfems that will be reclassified subsequently fo the consolidated statement of profit
loss:
Realisation of foraigh currency translation related to non-operating subsidiary 2,880,593 -
(note 20 b}

Available for safe investments:
- Net change in fair velue arising during the year (1,053,042) (2,237,682)
- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale (888,797) -
- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loas on impairment 1,557,693 1,519,085
Share of other comprehensive Incoma of associates 2310477 845,330
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {132,748) (3,855,099)
Total other comprehensive incomea/(loss) 4,684,875 (3,728,3686)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (4,026,410) {6,880,710)
Total comprehensive loss for the year aftributable to:
Qwmers of the Parent Company (5,345,568) (5,1584,841)
Non-controlling interests 724,869 {1,676,768)

{4,825,410) {8,8680,710)

The noter et aut on pages 12 to 74 forrm an integral part of these consolidated finandal statements.
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A1 Denambae: 2017

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2017 2018
KD KD
Assete
Cash and bank balances 12,190,584 8,847,203
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 95304 246,992
Receivables and other assels 16 21,172,332 17,249,083
Due from related parties 1,927,648 487 027
Trading properties 17 9,410,633 7.511,097
Available for sale investments 18 15,117,502 22.6689,73¢
Investment properties 19 6,642,087 10,826,813
Investment in associates 20 38,832,258 41,102,181
Goodwill 21 38,550,102 40,174 557
Properties under development 22 81,785,579 70,748,732
Capital work in progress 23 48,643,792 46,560,974
Proparty, plant anc equlpment 24 104,644,237 103,529,C30
Total assets 378,812,038 369,754,548
Llablitties and equlity
Liabititles
Payables and other liabilities 25 73,630,205 62,652,235
Due tc related parties 25,136,045 21,448,538
Borowings 26 195,245,229 194,304,431
Advances recelved from customers 27 3,831,737 7,361,111
Total liabllities 297,449,218 285,766,316
Equity
Share capital 28 72,000,000 72,000,000
Share premium 28 11,873,081 11,873,081
Treasury shares 29 (32,751,404) (32,757 404)
Treasury shares reserve 28 104,935 104,935
Statutory and voluntiary reserves 30 32,757,404 32,TE7.404
Falr value rese:ve 7,858,281 8,408,275
Foreign currency translatior. reserve {6,204,013) (7,857,647)
Accumdlated losses {41,641,742) (33,378,133)
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 44,100,522 49,450,491
Non-controlling interests 8 35,282,300 34,637,741
Total equity 79,362,822 83,888,232
Total liablilties and equity 376,812,038 369,754,548

Seleh Saleh Al-Selmi
Chairman

Talal jassim \l-Bahar

Vice Chairman

The notes set out on pager 12 1 74 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

10

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD

OPERATING ACTMITIES
(Loss)/prefit for the year {9,310,285) (3,132,344)
Adjustments:
Gain on sale of avallable for sale investments 2,311,688 (271.818)
Gain on sale of Investmenl properties (184,049) (1,708,768)
Gain on sale of subsidiaries - (4,810,765)
Gein on sale of property, plant and equipment - (1,801,208)
Change in falr valua of Investment properties {201,185) {(1,826,585)
Impairment of goodwill 1,663,767 5
Impairment of available for sale Investments 1,557,693 1,519,085
Impairmant of investment In associates 1,442,611 30,759
Dividend income (224,767) (294,684)
Intergst Income (358,396) (228,364)
Finance costs 14,003,088 12,234,270
Reallsatlon of forelgn cumency translation reserve 2,880,503 -
Reversal of provisions no longer required (4,638,600) -
Depreciation 3,398,982 3,840,231
Share of rasults of associates (2,229,928) (3,203,178)
Net |oss on sale of ghares In investment in associates (8,697,318) 541,528
Foreign exchange loss on non-operating liabilities 612,694 377,782

4,888,768 1,665,714
Changes In operating assets and liabllities:
Investments at falr value through profit or loss 151,608 285,088
Receivables and other assets (3,023,209) 2,787,157
Due from related parties {438,183) 1,520,936
Trading properties (1,899,536) (24,851)
Payables and other llabllities 8,750,835 (B,706,302)
Due to related parties 3,607,807 {3,214,207)
Advances received from customers {3,823,374) {7,347,030)
Cash from/(used in) operating activities 7,376,538 (13,054,288)
Dividend income received 224,767 264,684
Interest income recaived 368,368 228,354
Finance costs paid (11,878,032) (9,549,112)
Net cash used In operating activities {3,918,333) (22,080,162)




Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

11

Year ended Year ended
Note 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries - 6,086,918
Net movement in investment in essaciates 2,544,108 1,995,342
Proceeds from sale of shares In investment in associates 9,909,010 311,643
Net movement in properties under developmeni {11,088,5620) (1,007,342)
Additions to capital work in progress - (139,587)
Net movement in property, plant and equipment (2,273,654} (1,182,824)
Proceede from sale of properiy, plant and equipment - 3,205,880
Proceeds from redemption of available for sale investments 5,928,770 220,310
Proceeds from sale of invesiment properties 5,356,830 2,852 880
Purchase of avallable for sale Investments (2,035,881) c
Net cash from Investing activitiea 7,780,892 12,152,229
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans 23,684,783 18,065,028
Repayment of bank loans (23,104,190) (12,395,338)
Change In non-controliing Interests - 103,420
Net cash from financing activities 480,573 6,663,110
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,322,832 {3,284,823)
Foreign currency adjustment (779.841) (718,810)
Cash and cash equivatents at beginning of the year 15 8,300,847 12,204,280
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 15 11,844,138 8,300,847

The notes set ovd on pages 12 tp 74 form an integral part of thess consolidated financial statsments.
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31 Bycerber 2017

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and actlvities of the Parent Company

Internadonal Financial Advisors —~ KPSC (“the Parent Company®) is 2 Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company
incorporated on 31 January 1974 under the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960 and amendments
thereto. The Parent Company is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Capital Mazket Authority of
Kuwair as an investnent company.

The Parent Company is principally engaged in providing following activities:

1. Iavest in various economic sectors through the incotporation or participation in the incotporation of
various companies or institutions practicing similar or complementary activities to the company’s
objectives for its account and for the account of third parties inside or outside the State of Kurwait.

2, Manage local or foreign various companies and institutions and oarket the investment services and
products owned by them or by third partes inside or outside the State of Kuwait.

3.  Own and acquire the right of disposal of whatever it deems necessary therero of movable and
immovable property or any parts thereof or any franchising rights the company deems they are
necessafy ox appropriate fo the nature of its activity or to the development of its funds, excluding
trading in goods for its account.

4. Conduct all business related to securities trading for its account and for the account of third parties
inside or outside the State of Kuwait, including sale, purchase and marketing of securities of shares and
sukuks and other securities issued by local and foreign government and private companies, institutions
and bodies and practice the related financial mediation and brokerage activities.

5. Manage the funds of individuals and local ot foreign public and private companies, instimtions and
bodies and invest these funds in various economic scctors through investment and real estate portfolios
inside or outside the State of Kuwait

6.  Provide economic advice related to investment and hold courses, issue brochures of various investment
activities far individuals, local and foreign companies and institutions.

7.  Prepare and provide technical, economic and assessment studies and consultations ind prepare
feasibility studies for various investment activities and other studies, examining the technical, finandial
and administrative aspects related to these activities for its account or for the account of third parties
inside or outside the State of Kuwait.

8. Establish and manage the collective investment systems and local and foreign investment funds of all
kinds and contribute to their establishment for the account of the company and for the account of
third parties in accordance with the regulating laws, rules and conditions specified by the competent
regulatory authorities; put its stakes or units to subscription so that the company’s contributions to the
share capital of the collective investment system or the investment fund shall not be less than the
minimum limit specificd by the regulatory authotdties; sell or purchase stakes or units in the local ot
foreign collective investment systems ot investment funds for its account and for the account of third
parties or market same, provided the necessary approvals are obtained from the competent regulatory
authorities; act as investment custodian, investment monitor and investment advisor in general for the
investment funds inside or outside the State of Kuwait in accordance with the regulating laws,



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Incorporation and actlvities of the Parent Company (continued)

9. Invest funds for its account and for the account of third parties in the various aspects of mvestment
inside or outside the State of Kuwait and acquire movzble and immaovable assets.

10.  Act as the issuance manager for the securities issued by the local and foreign government and private
companies, institutions and bodies and act as the subscrption agent, listing advisor, investment
custodian and monitor, including publications management and commitments of subscription
operations management, receiving applications and covering subscription thereto.

11, Perform all advisory services that help develop and strengthen the ability of financial and monetary
market in the State of Kuwait and meet its tequirements within the limits of the Jaw and the decisions
or instructions issued by the competent regulatory authorities (after obtaining the necessary approvals
from those authorities).

12.  Mediate in financing operations, structure and manage the financing artangements of the local and
international companies, institutions, bodies and projects in the vatious economic sectors in eccordance
with the rules and conditions specified by the competent regulatory authorties.

13.  Carry our all the works related to the activities for the arrangement and management of consolidation,
acquisition and separation operations for the local and foreign government and private companies,
institudons and bodies.

14  Lending, borrowing and issuance of finandial guarantees in the scope of achicving the company’s
objectives.

15. Do brokerage in selling foreign currencies against commission by doing mediation between the sellers
and buyers of foreign currencies including the requirements of providing the services of dealers in
foreign exchange markets, such as giving advice and doing the necessary contacts by teles, telephone
and other means of communication.

16. During commencement of its objectives, the company is prohibited to open current or saving accounts
or accept deposits or open documentary credits or represent foreign banks for third parties,

17. Deal and trade in the foreign exchange market and precious metals market inside and outside the State
of Kuwait for the company’s account only, without prejudice to the prohibition established under the
Ministezial Resolution promulgated for organizing CBK's supervision on investment companies.

18. Act as finandial, economic and administrative advisors for the companies and institutions operating in
Kurwait and Middle East countries.

19.  Sell and purchase securities of the companies similar to the company’s account inside or outside the
State of Kurwait.

20. Mzanage investment for third parties and manage third parties’ portfolios and do financial mediation,
provided this does not include brokerage in the shares listed on Kuwait Stock Exchange.

21.  Acquire movables and properties necessary to start the company’s activities within the limits permitted
by the Law.

22 Utilize the surplus funds available with the company by investing samc in financial portfolics managed
by specialized companies and authorities.

The company may have interest or participate in any way with the companies, institutions and authorities which
practice similar activities or which assist it in achieving its objectives inside or outside the State of Kuwait. The
company may also open branches inside ot outside the State of Kuwait in such a way that does not conflict
with the Companies Law and the instructions of the regulatory authorities.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Incorporation and actlvities of the Parent Company (continued)
The Group comprises the Parent Campany and its subsidiaries as detailed in note 8.

The address of the Parent Company’s registeted office is PO Box 4694, Safat 13047, State of Kuwait.

The Parent Company has not yet appointed a chief executive officer which is a requirement of the companies
law. The Parent Company intends to appoint a chief executive officer as soon as practically possible.

The Parent Company™s board of directors approved these consolidated financial statements for issue on
29 March 2018 and are subject to the approval of the general assembly of the shareholders.

2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statemnents of the Group have been prepared under historical coat convention except
for financial assets at fuir value through profit or loss, financial assets available for sale and investment
propertics that have been measured at fair value.

‘The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KID”) which is the functional
and presentation currency of the Parent Company.

‘The Group has elected to present tae “‘staternent of comprehensive income” in two statements; the “statement
of profit or loss” and a “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”.

3 Statement of compliance

These consolidated fingndal statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“TFRS") promulgated by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (*IASB™), and
Intetpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Intetpretations Committee (“TFRIC”) of the
TASB, as modified for use by the Government of Kuwnit for financial setvices institutions regulated by the
Central Bank of Kuwait. These regulations require adoption of all IFRSs except for the IAS 39 requirement for
collective impaitment provision, which has been replaced by the Central Bank of Kuwnit requitement for a
minimum general provision of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities. These rates are to be
applied effective from 1 January 2007 on the net increase in facilities, net of certain restricted categories of
collateral, duting the reporting period.

4q Changes In accounting policies

41 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
which have been adopted by the Group. Information on these new standards is presented below:

Standard or Interprezation Effective for annual periods beginning

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows- Amendments 1 January 2017

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 1 January 2017
Unrealised Losses — Amendments

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 1 January 2017

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows- Amendments
The Amendments are designed to improve the quality of information provided to users of financial statements
about changes in an entity’s debt and related cash Hows (and noncash changes).

The Amendments:
* require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users to evaluate changes in liabilities atising from
financing activities. An entity applies its judgement when determining the exact form and content of
the disclosures needed to satisfy this requitement;




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes In accounting policies (continued)
4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows- Amendments (continued)
» suggest a number of specific disclosures that may be necessary in order to satisfr the above
requirement, including:

o changes in liabilities arising from financing activities caused by changes in financing cash flows,
foreign exchange rates or fait values, or obtaining or losing control of subsidiades or other
businesses;

© a reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of liabilities arising from financing
activities in the statement of finandial position including those changes identified immediately
above,

The Group’s lisbilities arising from financing activities comprise of borrowings. There were no materisl non-
cash transactions on those accounts and accordingly, no separate disclosure was made 1n these consolidated
financial statements. Apart from these additional disclosures requirement the application of the amendments
did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 12 make the following changes:

* Unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value and measured at cost for mx purposes give
rise to a deductible temporary difference regardless of whether the debt instrument’s holder expects to
recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by use.

The carrying amount of an asset does not limit the estimation of probable future taxable profits.

¢ Estimates for future taxable profits exclude tax deductions resulting from the reversal of deductible
temporary differences.

¢ An entity assesses & deferred tax asset in combination with other deferred tax assets. Where tax law
restricts the utilisation of tax losses, an entity would assess a deferred tax asset in combination with
other deferred tax assets of the same type.

The application of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated financisl statements
of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments 1o IFRS 12 - Clarifies the scope of IFRS 12 by specifying that its disclosure requirements (except
for those in IFRS 12. B10-B16) apply to an entity's interests in a subsidiary, joint venture or an associate
irrespective of whether they are classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale or
a3 discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5.

The application of the amendments did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group as none of the Group entities are classified as, or included in disposal group that is classified as held
for sale,

4.2 LASB Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certnin new standards, atnendments and
intespretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted early by the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes In accounting policies (continued)

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)
Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the fitst period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on few
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financinl statements is provided below. Cettain other new standazds and intetpretations have been issued but
are nut expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Effective for annual

Standard or Interpretation periods beginning
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribudon of Assets between an Investor and its

Assodate or Joint Venture - Amendments No stated date
IFRS 4 and IFRS 9 - Amendments 1 January 2018
[FRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracis 1 January 2021
IAS 40 Investment Property - Amendments 1 January 2018
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 1 January 2018
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Ttansactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018
[FRIC 23 Uncerninty over income tx treatments 1 January 2019

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Conttibution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or -Joint
Venture - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Staternents and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets ftom an investor to its associate
or joint venture, as follows:
® require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
®  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.c. &
guin or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that assodiate or
joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g, whethet the sale or contribution
of asscts occurs by an investor transferring shates in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

[ASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, eady
implementation is allowed. Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 4 and IFRS 9 - Amendments
The Amendments provide entities that issue insurance contracts with temporary accounting solutions for the
practical challenges of implementing IFRS 9 before the forthcoming new Insurance Contracts Standard.

Management does nat anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have & significant
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its project to replace
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Meesurement’, The new standard introduces extensive changes
to TAS 39 guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected
ctedit loss” model for the impairment of financial sssets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application

of hedge accounting.

The main areas of expected impact are as follows:

® the classification and measurement of the financial asséts based on the new criteria that considers the
assets” contmctual cash flows and the business model in which they are managed.

¢ an expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the trade receivables and
investments in debt-type assets currently classified as available for sale and held-to-maturity, unless
classificd as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the new criteria.

® it will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such
investments will instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be presented in profit ot
loss unless an irrevocable designation is made to present them in othet comprehensive income.

® if the fair value option continues to be elected for certin financial liabilities, fair value movements will
be presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes relate to own credit risk.

IFRS 9 containe three principal classification categories for financial asscts: measured at amortised cost, Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) and Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL).
The standard climinates the existing JAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivebles and available
for sale.

Further, the gnins and losses on subsequent measurement of debt type financial instruments measured at
FVTOCI will be recognised in equity and will be recycled to profit or Ioss on derecognition or reclassification.

However, gains or losses on subsequent measurement of equity type financial assets measured at FVTOCI will
be recognised in equity and not recycled to profit ar loss on derecognition. Dividend income on these asgets
will continue to be recognised in profit or loss.

The Company will apply IFRS 9 retrospectively and recognize any difference between the previous carrying
amount and the carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 in opening retzined eamings. The Company will not
restate ptior periods.

Based on the analysis of the Group's finandal assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and of the
circumstances that cxisted at that date, management of the Group have determined the impact of
implementation of IFRS 9 on the consolidated finandial statements of the Group 25 follows:

Classificarion and measurement:
Management holds debt type finandal assets to hold and collect the associated cash Aows and, therefore, these
are to continue to be accounted for at amottised cost.

As a result of new dassifications, equity investments amounting to KDD15,117,502 will be reclassified from
Available for Sale to FVTOCI,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes In accounting policies (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and measuremnt: (tonfinued)

Loans as well as trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash
Hows represeniing solely payments of principal and interest. Management analysed the contractual cash flow
charactenistics of those instruments and concluded that they meet the criteria for amortised cost measurement
under [FRS 9. Therefore, reclassification for these instruments is not required.

There is no impact on the financial liabilities of the Group and will continue to be measured at amortised cost.

Impairmens:

TERS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, instalment credit loans
and trade receivables, due from related parties either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. Instalment credit debtors
ate subject w the minimum provisioning requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait. Management believes
that the impairment allowance for the instalment credit debtom under the CBK requirements exceed the
requirements of IFRS 9.

The Group expects to apply simplified approach to impairment for accounts receivable and other assets and
due from related parties a5 required or permitted under the standard.

However, the Group doesn’t expect to tecognise any material impairment losses on its accounts receivable and
duc from related parties.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 will replace TAS 17 and three related Interpretations. Leases will be recorded on the statement of
financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liahility.

Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to provide quantified
information. Howevet, in order to determine the impact, management is in the process of:
» performing a full review of all agreements to assess whether any additional contracts will now become
a lease under IFRS 16’s new definition
* deciding which transitional provision to adopt; either full retrospective application ot partial
rerospectve application (which means comparatives do not need to be restated). The partial
application method also provides optional relief from reassessing whethee contracts in place ate, or
contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs. Deciding which of these practical expedients to adopt is
important as they are one-off choices
¢ assessing their current disclosures for finance and operating leases as these are likely to form the basis
of the amouats to be capitalised and become right-of-use asscts
® determining which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if they are
going to use these exemptions
® assessing the additional disclosures that will be required.
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4 Changes in accounting policles (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracs
IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance contracts and The Standard introduces insurance contract
measurement principles requiring:

8 current, explicit and unbiaged estimates of Riture cash flows
e discount rates that reflect the characteristics of the contracts® cash flows
s explicit adjustment for non-finandial risk.

Day one profits should be deferred as a contractual service margin and allocated systematically to profit or loss
as entities provide coverage and are released from risk. Revenne is no longer equal to written premiums but to
the change in the contract liabiity covered by consideration.

A separate measurement model applies to reinsurance contracts held. Modifications are allowed for qualifying
short-term contracte and participating contracts, Increased disclosure requirements apply.

IFRS 17 includes an optional simplified measurement approach, or premium allocation approach, for simpler
insurance contracts provided certain critera is met,

Management docs not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the fature will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements [or alternatively impact should be specified or a
statement saying it cannot be quantified at present.

IFRS 40 Investment Property - Amendments

The Amendments to IAS 40 clarifies that transfers to, or from, investment property are required when, and
only when, there is a change in use of property supported by evidence. The amendments also re-characterise
the list of circumstances appearing in paragraph 57(2)—d) as 2 non-exhaustive list of examples of evidence that
a change in use has occurred. The Board has also clarified that a change in management’s intent, by itself, does
not provide sufficient evidence that a change in use has occurted. Evidence of a change in use must be
obsetvable.

Menagement does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have s significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Artendments 1o LAS 28 - Clarifies that a qualifying entity is able to choose between applying the equity method
or measuring an investment in an associate ot joint venture at fair value through profit or loss, scparately for
each associate or joint venture at initial recognition of the assodiate or joint venture, Amendment is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. X
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes In accounting policies (continued)
4.2 TASB Standards issued hut not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

IFRIC 22 Forelgn Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretations looks at what exchange rate to use for translation when payments are made or received in
advance of the related asset, expense or income. A diversity was observed in practice in circumstances in which
an entity recognises a non-monetary liability asising from advance considetation. The diversity resulted from
the fact that some entities were recognising revenue using the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt of
the advance consideration while others were using the spot exchange rate at the date that revenue was
recognized. IFRIC 22 addresses this issue by clarifring that the date of the transaction for the pucpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or patt of
it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asact or non-monetary liability arising
from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Managemeat does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax wreatments

The Interpretation clarifies how the recognition and measurement requitements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are
applied where there is uncerninty over income tax treatments. The IFRIC IC had clarified previously that IAS
12, not IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for uncertain
income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current incomne tax assets
and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment.

An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applicd by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether
that treatent will be accepted by the tax authority. For example, a dedision to claim a deduction for a specific
expense or not to include 2 specified item of income in 3 tax return is an uncertain treatment if its acceptability
is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax accounting where there is an uncertginty
regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax
losses and credits and rax rates.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4.3 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and carly adopted

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

[FRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customen” was issued in May 2014 and is cffective for annual periods
commending on or after 1 January 2018, with carly adoption permitted. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive
model of accounting for revenue ardising from contracts with customers and supersedes cument revenue
guidance which is currently found across several standards and interpretations with customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The Group reviewed the impact of IFRS 15 on its revenue from operations and during a previous year elected
to early adopt it with effect from 1 January 2015 as the Group considers it better reflects the real estate business
performance of the Group. The Group opted for modified retrospective application of the standard ss
permitted by IFRS 15 upon early adoption. Accordingly, the standard was applied to the yeat ended 31
December 2015 (the initial application period). Modified retrospective application requires the recognition of
the cumulative impact of adoption on all contracts that are not yet complete as at 1 January 2016 in the form
of an adjustment to the opening balance of tetained earnings e at that date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes In accounting policies (continued)
4.3 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective and eatly adopted (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continved)
Adjustments to the opening statement of financial position as at 1 Jannary 2015 is detailed below:

31 Dec. Adjustments/ 1 .Jan.
2014 reclaselfication 2016
KD KD KD

Assets
Propertles undsr development 158,251,603 (96,583,828) 81,687,875
Trading properties 4,023,921 4,080,984 8,104,805
Receivables and other assets 16,304,042 96,690 19,401,632
Liabliities
Advances received from customers 132,256,127 (104,769, 468) 27,486,659
Payables and other liabilies 683,206,015 2,708,569 66,014,484
Equity
Accumulated loasses atiributable lo the owners of the
Parent Company (65,513,413) 5,637,526 (58,975,887)
Nen-controlling interests 24,033,307 4,117,415 28,160,722

The table below represents impact on revenue, cost of revenue and expenses for the year ended 2016 had the
earlier policy for revenue recognition been continued during the year 2015:

As per As per the old Impact due to
IFRS 16 pollcy change
KD KD KD
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2015
Net income from hoteliers and relaled services 23,082,819 17,123,543 5,009,276
Other operating expenses {15,365,820) (15,248,841) {116,978)
Net impact 7,726,890 1,878,602 5,850,207

Refer note 5.6.1 for description of accounting policy for revenue recognition under IFRS 15.

5 Summary of significant accounting policles
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out below,

51 Basis of consclidation

The Group controls subsidiaries if it iz exposed, or haa rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiaries and has the ability to affect those retumns through its power over the subsidiaries. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than thtee months
from that of the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of
any significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent
Company’s financial staternents.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are climinated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies, Where unrealised losses on intra-Group asset sales
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group pespective.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

5.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)
Amounts teported in the financial statements of subsidiades have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
coasistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries zcquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, ot up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as patt of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net asaets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes towl comprehenaive income or loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective
ownership interests, '

When a controlling interesi in the subsidiaries is disposed off, the difference between the selling price and the
net asset value plus cumulative anslation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Changes in the Group's ownership inrerests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the hon-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attzibuted to the owners of the Parent
Company. -

5.2 Busincss combinations, joint venture and joint operations

The Group applies the acquisidon method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiaty is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transfeered, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issucd by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration atrangement. Acquisition costs are
expensed 23 incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in
the acquire cither at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquire’s identifiable net assets.

[f the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the scquirer’s previou;sly held
equiry interest in the acquire is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss,

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquire’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial agsets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the sequire.

Goodwill is stated after scparate recognition of identifiable intangible asscts. It is calculated as the excess of the
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquite and c) acquisition-date fair valuc of any existing equity interest in the acquire, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable ner assets. If the fair values of identifiable ner assers exceed the sum calculated
above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss immediately.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

5.3 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits atising from a business combination that ate not individually
identified and separately r=cognised. Goodwill is casried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

5.4 Inveatment in associates, joint ventures and joint operations

5.4.0  Investment in assoviates and joint ventsires

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Joint venture is an arrangement that the Group controls jointly with one or
more other investor, and over which the Group has rights to a share of the arrangement’s net assets rather than
direct rights to underlying assers and obligations for undetlying liabilities.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are inidally recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for
using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the associate
and joint venture is not recognised separately and is included in the- amount recognised as investment in
associates and joint ventures.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates and joint ventures is increased
or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss end other comprehensive income of the
associate and joint ventures, adjusted where necessaty to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the
Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entitics. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the
underlying assct is also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associare and joint ventures is shown on the face of the consolidate statements of
profit or loss. This is the profit attributable to equity holdets of the associate and joint venture and therefore is
profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate and jaint venture.

The difference in reporting dates of the assodiates and joint ventures and the Group is not more than three
months. Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date
and the date of the Group’s financial statements. The associate’s and joint ventures accounting policies conform
to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar dreumstances.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate and joint ventures. The Group determines at each
reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate and joint ventures is
impaired, If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and joint ventures and its carrying value and recognises the amount under
a separate heading in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upeon loss of significant influence and joint control over the associate and joint ventures, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any differences between the cartying amount of the
associate and joint venture upon loss of significant influence and joint control and the fair valie of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)
5.4 Inveatment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

54.2  Investment in joint operations
A joint operator recognises in relation to its interest in a join operation:
® Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointdy
® T liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly
* Iis revenue from the same of its share of the output by the joint operation; and
* Tis expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly

A joint operator accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its involvement in 2 joint
operation in accordance with the relevant IFRSs.

The acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business as defined in business
combinations, is required to apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in IFRS 3 and
other JFRSs with the exception of those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11. These
requirements apply both to the initial acquisition of an interest in = joint operation, and the acquisition of &n
additional interest in a joint operation (in the latter case, previously held interest are not re-measured).

5.5 Segment reporting
The Group has four operating segments: the asses management, treasury and investments, real estate and

other. In identifying these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines
representing its main products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each
requires different approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transactions are carried out atarm’s length
prices.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated
financial statements. In addition, assets ot liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segrent,

5.6 Revenue recognition
Revenue is tecognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will fow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when payment is made.

Revenue arises from rendering of services and is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration
received or receivable.

The Group applies the revenue recognition eriteria set out below to each separately identifiable component of
LEvenue.

5.6.1 Revenue from contracty with customers

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance found
across several Standards and Interpretations within IFRSs. It establishes a new five-step model, explained
below, which will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers.

Step 1 Identify the contract with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more
partics that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for each of those rights
and obligations.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)
5.6 Revenue recognition (continued)
5.6.1 Revenue from contracts with cusromers (continued)

Step 2 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation in a contract is a
promise to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in cxchange fot transferring the promised goods and services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step +  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract which has
more than one performance vbligation, the Group will allocate the wansacuon price to each
performance obligation in an amount that depicts the consideration 1o which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 5 Recognise revenue as and when the Group satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue over time if any one of the following critetia is met:

The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
perfarmance as the Group performs; or

- The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as is the asset is
created or enhanced; or

- The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group, and the Group
has an enforceable dght to payment for performance obligations completed to date.

The Group allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations in a contract, based on the input
method, which requires revenue recognition on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligations. The Group estimates the total costs to complete the projects in ordet to determine
the amount of revenue to be recognised.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods and services, it creates a
contract asset based on the amount of consideration eamed by the petformance. Where the amount of
consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised, this gives rise to a contract
liability.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account the
contractually agreed terms of payment excluding taxes and duties. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements
against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as principal or an agent and has concluded that it is acting as
a principal in all of its revenue arrangements,

Revenue is recognised in the consolidated financial staterents to the extent that it is probable that the economic
bencfits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if and when applicable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)
5.6 Revenue recognition (continued)

56.2 Rendering of services

The Group earns fees and commission income from diverse range of asset management, investment banking,
custody and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two
caregories:

Fet incomne earned from services ihat are provided over a certain period of time
Fees eamed for the provision of sexvices over a petiod of time are accrued over that perod. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management fees.

Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees adsing tor rendenng specific advisory services, brokerage services, equity and debt placement transactions
for a third party or arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party
are recognised on completion of the undetlying transaction.

5.6.3 Interest income
Interest income is reported on an acerual basis using the effective interest method.

5.6.4 Dividend income
Dividend income, other than those from investment in assodiates, are recognised at the time the dght to receive
payment is established.

5.6.5 Rental incomme
Rentzl income arising from inveatment properties is accounted for on a atraight line basis over the lease term.

5.6.6 Income from hotel operations and other related services
Income from hotel includes hotel services revenue, food and beverage and room revenue,

Income from rooms, food and beverage and other related services is recognised when the room is occupied,
food and beverages are sold and other related services on the perfarmance of services.

5.6.7 Income from sale of properties

Revenue on sale of condominiums is recognised when risk and reward related to property has been transferred
to customer. Risk and reward are transferred when legal notice is served to customer to take the possession of
the property or on actual hand over to the customer. Income from sale of properties is shown net of all direct
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.7 Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit ot loss upon utilisation of the secvice or
at the date of theit origin.

5.8 Cost of sale of propertics

Cost of sale of properties includes the cost of land and development costs. Development costs include the cost
of infrastructure and construction. The cost of sales in respect of sale of condominiums is recognised on the
basis of per square feet average cost of construction. Per square feet average cost of construction is derived
from total saleable area and total construction cost.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

5.9 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

5.10 Taxation

£.10.1 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contrbution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from associates
and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to stamtoty reserve should be excluded from profit
for the year when determining the contribution.

5.10.2 Nadonal Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of
20U6 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group after deducting directors*® fees for the year. As per law, income
from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST' have to
be deducted from the profit for the year.

5.10.3 Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007,

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Parent Company has no liabilities towards
KFAS duc to accumulated losses. Under the NLST and Zakat regulations no carry forward of losses to the
future years nor any carry back to prior year is permitted.

5,10.4 Taxation on overseas subsidiarics
Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and prescribed according
to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where these subsidiaries operte.

511 Property, plant and equipment

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professiona! fees for
qualifying assets, and the borrowing costs incurred in accordance with the Group’s accounting polides.

Depredation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is charged 8o as to write off the cost of assets, other than freehold land and properties under
development over their cstimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and deprediation method are reviewed at cach year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Freehald land is not depreciated.

Building on leasehold land is depreciated over the tezm of lease.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

L] Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

5.11  Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles and yachts are stated at cost Jess accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impaitment losses.

Depredation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the cstimated vseful lives as follows:

Frechold buildings 5() years

Building on leasehold land over the term of lease
Plant and equipment 5—7 years

Furniture and fxtures 510 years

Motor vehicles 4 -5 years

Yacht 10 years

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference berween the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit ot loss.

512 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to eamn rentals and/or for capital appredation, and are accounted for
using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost. Subsequently, investment properties are revalued annually
and are included in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair values. These values are
supported by market evidence and are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience
with respect to both the location and the nature of the investment property.

Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment property is
immediately recognised in the consolidated sttement of profit or loss within “change in fair value of investment
properties” and “gain/loss on sale of investment properties”

Tranefers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of
change in use.

513  Property under development

Property under development represents properties under development/construction for trade, which are stated
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, construction, design and architecture, and
other related expenditures such as professional fees, project management fees and engineering costs attributable
to the project, which are accrued as and when activities that are necessary to get the assets ready for the intended
use are in progtess. Direct costs from the start of the project up to completion of the project are accrued to
propetty under development. Completion is defined as the eatlier of the issuance of the certificate of practical
completion, or when management considers the project to be completed. Net realisable value is estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the cstimated cost of completion and the estimated cost
necessaty to make sale. Upon completion, unsold propertics, if any, are transferred to trading properties.
Propettics under development is disclosed net of transfer to cost of properties sold under IFRS 15.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

514  Capiial work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress includes land which is stated at cost less impairment in value, if any. The carrying
value of land is reviewed according to drcumstances to make sure that there is no impairment loss in value or
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and when the carrving value is
declined, the value of land is written down to its recoverable amount.

Capital work-in-progress also includes the cost of construction, design and architecture, advances paid for
purchase of properties and other related expenditures such as professional fees, project management fees and
engineering costs attributable to the project, which are capitalized as and when activities that are necessary to
get the assets ready for the intended use are in progress. Direct costs from the start of the project up to
completion of the project are capitalised

5,15  Trading properties

Tmading propertics include purchase and development costs of completed unsold real estatc properties.
Development costs include planning, maintenance and service costs. Trading propesties are recorded at the
lowez uf cost and ner realisable value. Cost are those expense incurred in brining each property to its present
condition. Net realisable value is based on cstimated selling price less any further cost expected to be incurred
on disposal.

5.16  Impalrment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which thete are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, same assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within

the group at which management monitots goodwill

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been sllocated (determined by the Group’s management as
equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or
cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in citcumatances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amouat by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverahle amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating umit and
determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for
impaitment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary
to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are detetrnined
individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such
as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairmeant losses reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that asset. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets. With the exception of goodwill, all assets arc
subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss pteviously recognised may no longer exist. An
impairment charge is reversed if the asset’s is recoverable amount exceeds its catrying amount.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)
5,17 Financial instruments

5.17.1 Recogmition, Initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the finandial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs,
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at Fair value.

A financia] asset (of, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of Group of similar finandal assets) is

derecognised when:

¢ rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay ro a third party under a ‘pass through'’ arrangement
and cither
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the 2sset but has

transierred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its ghts to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 2 pass-
through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transfetred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the Group'’s continuing
involvement in the asset.

A finandial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing finandial liability is zeplaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange ot modification is treated as a
derecognition of the orginal liability and the tecognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.17.2 Classification and subscquent measurement of financial asscts
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

* Joans and receivables
= financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
» available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.

All financial assets except for those ac FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting
date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a finandal asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired, Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of finandial assets, which are
described below.

All income and expenses relating to financial agsets that are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of
trade receivables which is presented within other expenses.

e Loans and recefvables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial agsets with fixed or determinable payments that ate not
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less pravision for impaitment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)
5.17 Financial instruments (continued)

5.17.2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

e Loans and receivables (continued)

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they ate past due or when other
pbjective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not considered to
be individually impaired are reviewed for impaitment in groups, which are determined by reference to the
industry and region of a counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics, The impairment loss estimate
is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.

In addition, in accordance with Central Bark of Kuwait instructions, a minimum general provision is made on
all applicable credit facilities (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically.

The Group categotises loans and receivables into following categories:

» I sans and advances
Loans and advances are financial assets originated by the Group by providing money directly to the borrower
that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.

o Trade recrivables

Trade receivables are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for any uncallectible amounts. An
estimate for doubtful debts iz made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are
written off as incurred.

o Carh and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value less due to bank.

¢ Financial assets at FVTPL

Classification of investments as financial assets at FVTPL depends on how management monitor the
pezformance of these investments. When they are not classified s held for trading but have readily available
reliable fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the management accounts, they are as designated at FVIPL upon initial recognition. All derivative financial
instraments fall into this category, except for those designated and cffective as hedging instruments, for which
the hedge accounting requirements apply.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are derermined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuaton technique where no active market exists.

» AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets ace non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not
quslify for inclusion in any of the other categories of fnancial assets.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.17  Financial instruments (continued)

517.2 Classification and subsegquent measurement of financial assets (continued)

® AFS financial assets (continued)

Financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.
Impaimnent charges are recognised in the consolidated smtement of profit or loss, All ather AFS financial assets
are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and reported within
the fair value reserve within equity, except for impairment losses, and foreign exchange differences on monetary
assets, which are recognised in the consolidated statemen: of profit or loss. When the asset is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from the equity reserve to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and presented as a reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial gsset available
for sale or a group of finandal assets available for sale 15 impaired. In the case of equity investments clasaified
as financial assets available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged dedline in the
fair value of the equity investment below its cost. Significant’ is evalvated against the original cost of the
investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss is removed from othet comprehensive income and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for financizl assets that
are debt securities which are recognised in the consolidated staterent of profit or loss only if the reversal can
be objectively related to an evenr occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

5.17.3 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial Kabilities
‘The Group’s financial liabilities include bomowings, payables and other liabilities, advances received from
customers and due to related partices.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

o Payabler and other Kabilitier
Lizbilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by
the supplier or not.

e  Borrowings

All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

o Advances received from customers
Advances received from customers represent money received from customers towards instalments for
properties they have contracted to putchase in accordance with the terms of the sale agreements.

o Due to related partier
Amounts due as a result of transactons with related parties and cash advances from related parties ate included
undet due to related parties.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policles (continued)

518  Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation: takes
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are 2n integral
part of the effective interest rate.

5.19  Trade and settlement date accounting

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date ie. the date that the
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases ot sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that requite delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

520 Offsctting of financial instruments

Iinancial assets and finandial liabilines are offsct and the net amount repotted in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, ther is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention ro sertle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and setrle the liabilities simultanenusly.

5.21  Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positinns and ask price for short
positons), without any deduction far transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active macket, the fair value is detetmined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided
in Note 36.

522 Advances received from customers

Advances received from customers represent money received from customers towards instalments for
properties in accordance with the terms of the sale agreements as well as for the membership at beach club.
Advances received from customers are stated net of revenue recognised during the period under IFRS15.

523 Government grants
Govemnment grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Govemnment grants that are receivable 2s compensation for expenses or losses already incurred for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in consolidared
statement of profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

5.24 Equity, resetrves and dividend payments
Shate capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs astodated with
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.
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5 Significant accounting policles (continued)

5.24  Equity, reserves and dividend payments (continued)
Stemitory and voluntaty resetves comprlsc appropriations of current and prior penod profim in accordance with
the requirements of the companies’ law and the Parent Company’s atticles of association.

Foreign currency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency manslation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD.
Fair value reserve — comprises gains and losses relating to available for sale financial assets.

Accumulated losses include all current and prior period profits and losses. All transactions with owners of the
Parent Company are recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in payables and other linbilities when the
dividends have been approved in a meceting of the general assembly.

525 Treasuty shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group
and not yet reissued or cancelled The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method Under this
method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity.

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “ gain. of the sale
of treasury shares reserve’), which is not distributable. Any reslised losses are charged to the same account to
the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses ate charged to retained earnings then to the
voluntary resetve and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend
shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without
affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

526 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilitics

Provisions are recognised when the Group has s present legal or constructive obligation 4s a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be reqm.tcd from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure requited to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncerminties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a numbet of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions ate
discounted to their ptesent values, where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities ate not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an cutflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote,
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5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
5.27 Foreign currency translation

5.27.1 Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Fonctional currency of the respective Group entity, using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlenent of such teansactions and from the remeasurement of monctary items
denominated in foreign currency at year-end cxchange rates are recognised ic the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost
(translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair
value which are zanslated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value wes determined.

5.27.2 Foreign operations

In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, all assets, Habilities and transactions of Group entities with s
functional currency other than the KID are translated into KID upon consolidation. The functional currency of
the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting pedod.

On consolidation, assets and libilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments atising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing tate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign cumrency translation reserve in equity. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal

528 End of service indemnity

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement 1o these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period in accordance
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accred over the
period of employment. This liability, which is wnfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a
result of termination on the reporting date.

In addition to the end of service indemnity, with respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes
contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees” salaries.

529  Fiduciaty assets
Assets and related deposits held in trust or in 2 fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets or liabilities of the
Group and accordingly are not included in these consolidated financial staterents.

530 Related party traneactions
Related partics consist of directors, executive officers, their close family members and companies of which they
are principal owners. All related party transactions are approved by management.

8 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consclidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimations and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, cxpenses, assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting petiod However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and cstimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the canrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Significant management Judgements and estimation uncertainty
{continued)

6.1 Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consclidated financial
statements:

6.1.1  Classification of financial instrurments
Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at
acquisition.

"The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short
term profit making.

Classification of finandial assets as fair value through profit or loss depends on how management monitors the
performance of these finandial assets. When they are not classified as held for trading but have readily available
fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of profir or loss in the management 2ccounts, they
are classified as fair value through profit or loss.

Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nawre of the asset. If the Group is unable
trade these financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or determinable payments,
the financial asset is classified as loans and receivables.

All other financial assets are classified as available for sale.

6.1.2 Satisfaction of performance obligations

The Group is required to assess each of its contmcts with customers to determine whether performance
obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time in order to determine the appropriate method of
recognising revenue. The Group has assesscd that based on the sale and purchase agreements entered into with
customers and the provisions of relevant laws and regulations, where contracts are entered into to provide real
estate assets to customer, the Group does not create an asset with an altemative use to the Group and usvally
has an enforccable right to payment for performance completed to date. In these circumstances, the Group
recognises revenue over time. Where this is not the case, revenue is recognised at a point in time,

6.13 Classification of real estate
Management decides on acquisition of a rea] estate whether it should be classified as wading, propetty held for
development or investment property.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of
development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, ot for undetermined future use.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)

6.1 Significant management judgments (continued)

6.1.4 Controf asscssment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities
and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.

6.2 Estimates uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
diffetent.

6.2.1 Impaitment of goodwill
The Group detrermines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annusl basis. This requires an estimation of

the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Fstimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

6.22 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recagnise any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting dste based on
existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired, If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairmeat as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying vahie and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.2.3 Impairment of availsbie for sale equity investments

The Group treats available for sale equity investments s impaired when there has been a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolanged™ requires considerable judgment.

6.2.4 Impairment of trade receivables and due from related parties

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable and due from related parties is made when
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is
performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are
assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical
recovery rates,

6.2.5 Impairment of loans to customers
An estimate of the collectible amount of loans to customers is made when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis.

Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and 1 provision
applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates. Any difference between the
amounts actually collected in future petiods and the amounts expected will be recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Significant management Judgements and estimation uncertainty
{continued)

6.2 Estimates uncertainty (continved)

626  Estimation ofimpairmeat of property, plant and equipment and capital work-in progress and
their useful lives

The Group’s management tests annually whether property plant and equipment and capital work-in progress

have suffered impairment in accordance with the accounting policies atated within note 5 above. The

recoverable amounts of the assets are deternined based on value-in-use method. This method uses estimated

cash flow projections over the estimated uscful life of the asset discounted using market tates.

The Group’s management determines the useful lives of property plant and equipment and the related
depreciation charge. The depreciation charge for the year will change sigrificantly if acraal life is different from
the estimarted useful life of the nsset.

6.2.7 Business combinations

Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the varous clements of a business
combination. Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many
variables that affect future profitability.

6.2.8 Fair value of financial instrumeats

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market
quotes are not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is
not observable, management uses itn best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. (see note 38),

6.2.9 Percentage of completion
The Group tecoghises accrual for capital work in progress and propetties under development based on the
percentage of completion method. The percentage of wotk completion is determined by the independent lead
consultant of the respective projects.

The percentage of completion method is applied on a cumulative basis in each accounting yeat to the cutrent
estimates of accrual for capital work in progress and properry under development. Any change in estimate for
determination of accruals for capital work in progtess and property under development is recognised in current
consolidated statement of financial position.

6.2.10 Cost to complete the projects

The Group estimates the cost to complete the projects in order to determine the cost attributable 1o revenue
being recognised. These estimates include the cost of providing infrastracture, potential claims by contractors
as evaluated by the project consultant and the cost of meeting other contractual cbligations to the customers.

6.2.11 Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine
fair value as at 31 December 2017 and the valuers have used valuation techniques to artive at these fair values,
These estimated fair values of the investment propertics may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved
in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date
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6 Significant management Judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)

6.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

6.2.12 Impairment of development propertics

The Group reviews the realisable values of development properties to assess if there is an indication of
impairment. In determining whether the impuirment losses should be recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, management assesses the cucrent selling prices of the property units and the anticipated costs
for completion of such property units for properties which remain unsold at the reporting date. If the selling
proceeds are lower than the anticipated costs to complete, an impairment provision is recognised for the
identified loss event or condition to reduce the cost of development properties recognised within properties
under development in the consolidated statement of finandial position to net realisahle value.

7 Fundamental accounting concept

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by KID29,036,864. However,
management confirms that this simation is temporary as it is working on restructuring the Group’s asset based
investments and re-negodating the loan instalments payments terms and dates.

Maragement of the Parent Company and its subsidiary, IFA Hotels and Resorts, is currently negotiating with
its lenders to restructure 2ll its debts as appropriate with its current and future requirements to complete the
existing projects and provide the necessaty liquidity to fAnance its activities and achieve the best return on its
assets either by sale or operations. Qut of the total borrowings amounting to KID195,245,229 as of the reporting
date, the Parent Company’s direct agpregate borrowings amouats to KD75,545,792. The remaining borrowing
balance of KID119,699,437 obtained by the Group’s subsidiary “IFA Hotels and Resorts - KPSC” is regular.

As stated in note 26, instalments of KID24,352,665 (including interest) arc past due on borrowings granted to
the Parent Company by certain banks. However, management of the Parent Company successfully signed a
peelimi agreement, subsequent to the reporting date, to scttle part of the total outstanding loan of
KD42,990,792 due to 2 foreign bank and to reschedule the remaining balance. The Parent Company is also
currently negotiating with & local bank to restructure the total loan amounting to KD8,555,000. Accordingly,
due to the active negotiations currently in progress with these banks, management of the Parent Company
belicves the provisions of the loan agreements will not be applied to the entire outstanding borrowings as a
result of non-payment of such instalments, and therefore, this matter will not be a reason, in any way, for the
Group's inability to continue as a going concern.

Furthermore, management of the Group believes that as the Group’s assets approzimately reptesent twice the
outstanding borrowings balance of the Group, it is adequate to repay these borrowings in full and maintain
shareholders’ equity, noting that the carrying value of the assets is less than the estimated market value on that
date. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared nnder a going concern basis.
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8 Subslidiary companles

Details of the Group’s consolidated subsidiarics at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Country of Owmnership

Name of the subsidiary Incorporation _parcentaga
31 Dec. 31t Dec.

2017 2016
% %

IFA Hotels and Rescrls Co.~ KPSC Kuwait §7.367 57.357
First Takaful Insurance Company — KPSC Kuwalit 80.96 80.98
Seven Seas Resorts Co, — KSCC Kuwait 63.566 83.568
Gulf Real Estate Co. -WLL Kuwait 46,316 45.318
IFA Avistion Co. - KSCC Kuwait T4.8 74.8
Radeem Real Estate Co. - SAL Lebanon 89.9 $9.9
Dena Resl Estate Co. — SAL Lebanon 08.67 08.87
Suhall Telecommunication Services Cempany- Kuwait 99 99

KSCC

Principal activity

Hotel aperations
Insurance

Hotel operations
Reai estate
Aviation

Real estate
Real eatate

Telecommunication

The Group has pledged 95% (31 December 2016: 92%) of the Group’s investment in IFA Hotels and Resorts

against Group’s borrowings (note 26).

a) Sale of subsidiaries;

During the previous year, the Group disposed 100% of its shareholding in The Palm Residence FZE and Al Shalal
Beach Club FZE (UAE sub-subsidiaries) to 2 related party for a total consideration of KID6,086,918 (equivalent
to AED 74,000,000) resulting into a gain of KID4,466,125 (equivalent to AED 54,303,034).

Duting the previous year, the Group disposed 51% of its shareholding in IFA Hotels and Resorts Holding SAL
to a related party for a total consideration of KI1D3,430,840 resulting in a gain of KD144,670.

b) Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The Group includes one subsidiary with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Proportion of ownershlp
intsrests and voting rghts
Name held by the NCI {Loss)/profit allocatad to NC! Accumulated NCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016 2017 2018 2017 2018
% % KD KD KD KD

IFA Hotels and Resorts

Co. - KPSC ('IFAHR") 42.643% 42.843% {1,035,880) (54p,1068) 32,568,687 31,800,638
Individually iImmaterial

subsidiaries with non-

controlling interests {10,816) 107,233 2,692,113 2,068,203

{1,046,676) (441,083

36,282,300 34,537,741
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 Subsidiary companies (continued)

b) Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

No dividends were paid to the NCI during the years 2017 and 2016.

The financial year end of IFA Hotels and Resorts Company-KPSC (a subsidiary) is 31 December 2017. Far the
purpose of consolidation of this subsidiary in these consolidated financial statements, the interim condensed
consohdated financial information for the period ended 30 September 2017 have been used after approptiate
adjusunents are made for the effects of any significant transactions ot events that occur between that date and
the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017.

Summarised financial information for IFA Hotels & Resotts Company - KPSC, before intra Gtoup

eliminations, is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD

Non-current assets 163,229,253 173,928,258
Current assets 123,184,039 101,872,588
Totrl assets 288,413,282 275,800,848
Non-current liabllities 104,417,817 84,840,325
Currant llabilities 112,486,823 113,445,428
Total llabilitles 218,904,140 208,085,753
Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 36,939,565 35,845,555
Non-controlling Interests 32,689,587 31,860,538
Total equity 69,608,152 67,715,093
Revenue 33,734,270 31,190,805
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (1,393,132) (231.480)
L.oss for the year attributable to NCI (1,035,869) (549,196}
Loss for the year {2,420,092) (780,856)
Total other comprehensive income 3,871,792 10,884
Total comprehensive Incomei(loss) for the year 1,242,800 (768,792)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for tha yaser attributable to the owners of

the Parent Company 716,913 (186,081)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to NCI 526,687 (583,731)
Total comprehensive Incoma/{loss) for the year 1,242,800 (769,792)
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities 1,360,638 (11,408 458)
Nst cash from investing actlvities 960,857 8,897,105
Net cash (used In)/from financing activities (2,087,007) 112,871
Net cash inflowd{outflow) 252,498 {4,308 480)
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9 Net income from hoteliers and related services

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2047 2018
KD KD
Income:
Income from projects under development 26,595,333 8,530,844
Hotel operations 26,889,848 26,482,354
Beach club operations 2,341 1,628,242
Management fees 1,086,124 522 287
Residential servica Income 3,103,903 2,981,009
Rental Income 945,498 1,048,215
87,401,848 41,178,831
Direct costs (32,258,159) (21,202,765)
25,143,887 19.888,086

Income from hotel operaticns and other related services is shown net of all direct expenses in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

10 Net (loss)/gain from Investments
Net (loss)/gain from investments, analysed by category is as follows:

Year ended Year snded
31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2018
lrrvestments Investmants at
at falr vatue Avallable falr value Avallable
through profit  for sale through profit for sale
or losg Investments Total or [oss Investments Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
{Loss)/gain on sale {3.807) (2,311,888) (2,315,493) (11,622) 271,816 260,187
Change In fair value (36,264) - (38,264) (34,171) - (34,111)
(40,071) (2,311,888) (2,351,757 (45,793) 271,819 228,028
1 Net gain from Investment properties
Yoar ended Year ended
31 Dac. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Gain on sale of inveetmant properties 164,049 1,708,768
Change in fair value 281,185 1,628,595
445,234 3,335,383

Dhuring the year the Group seld certain investment propettics for a total consideration of KD5,356,830 (2016:
KD2,652,890) resulting into a gain of KID164,049 (2016: KD1,708,768.
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12 Reversal of provisions no longer required
Yaar ended Year ended
31 Dec, 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Reversal of impaimment for property, plant and equipment {a) 2,140,535 -
Reversal of impairment for investment in associates (b) 1,493,627 -
Revarsal of provision for amounts due from related parties ( ¢) 1,004,438 -
Reversal of provision for ioans to customers - 53,338
4,638,500 53,338

3)

b)

13

Gain on transfer of preference shares (a) -
Net gain on bargaln purchass (b) 965,037

During the year, the Group reversed an amount of KD2,140,535 related ta previously recopnized
impairment loss against a Hotel property based on recoverability assessment performed by management.

During the year, the Group teversed portion of previously recognized impairment kss amouating to
KDD1,493,527 against shareholders’ loan based on recoverability assessment performed by management,

During the year, a review of the provisions for doubtful debts was conducred by the Provisioning
Committee, formed by the Parent Company Board of Directors, to ensure that all existing provisioning
bave been made in accordance with the provisioning requitements of the Cenmal Bank of Kuwait
regarding general and specific provisioning on loans receivables and also other provisions imposed by
the Central Bank on the amounts due from related parties.

‘The Committee concluded that a reversal of provision amounting to KID1,004,438 against related party
balances should be made 18 the outstanding balances decreased from KID7,431,750 a8 of 2013 to
KID2,409,560 es at 31 December 2017. The Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the
reversal and it has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the current

year.

Neot other Income
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
20417 2016
KD KD

3,189,603

Foreign currency exchange loss (671,381) (36,577)
Net Income from ticket sales and related services 282,334 101,850
Other miscellaneous Incomef{expense) 799,012 (952,888)

1,375,022 2,371,688
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

13  Net other income (continued)

a) Dursing the previous year, the Group negotiated certain amendments to its agreement with & Hotel
Operatot. As a result of the said amendments, all of the prefetred shares were transferred to the Group
at nil consideration and accordingly, a gain of KID3,169,603 was recognized.

b) Duringa previous year, a joint operation (50%) “Tongaat Hulett/IFA Resorts Developments (TIFAZ)”
was held through a sub-subsidiary located in South Africa. The South African sub-subsidiaty acquired
the holding company which owns the remaining 50% of the joint operation. Consequently, the Group
effectively owns 100% of the joint operation. This transaction resulted in net pain on bargain putchase
amounting to KID965,037. Details of the assets and liabilities acquired (50%) are as follows:

KD
Fair valus of identiflable assets and llabllities acquired 4,261,734
Less: Fair value of consideration {3,296,897)
Net gain on bargain purchase 965,037

14 Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Parent Company

Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the Parent Company is calculated by dividing the

loss for the year atrriburable to the owners of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares

outstanding during the year excluding treasury shares.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
Loss for the year atiributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD) {8,263,609) (2,680,381)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 672,089,436 872,888,436
Baslc and diiuted loss per ehare attributable to the owners of the Parent
Company {12.28) File {4.00) Fils

15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash flows comprise of the following accounts:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 12,100,584 8,647,203
Less: Restricted balance {346,448) (348,448)

Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement of cash fiows 11,844,138 8,300,847
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

16 Recelvables and other assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Financial asgets
Accounls receivable 9,212,781 5,826,088
Advances 120,920 120,277
Kuwait Clearing Company recelvable 8,424 52,281
Siaff receivables 1,200,244 1,140,374
Others 5,469,495 4,269,931
Non-financla! assets
Prepaid expenses 2,059,861 1,851,374
Advances to contractors 627,073 1,883,183
Other miscellaneous receivables 2,474,749 2,208,535
21,172,332 17,249,083
17  Trading properties
31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2017 2016
KD KD

Resldentlal apartments In Dubal (UAE) 4,191,819 4,268,982
Properties in South Africa 6,219114 3,242,115

8,410,633 7,611,007

The trading properties in Dubai represent unsold residential units. Trading properties in South Africa represent
plots of lands purchased in South Aftica for trading purposes and comprise of land at cost and development

expenditure related to unsold properties.

The Group acquired additiona! trading properties with a value of KID2,712,778 as a result of the scquisition of

the joint opcraton {note 13b),

In the opinion of management there has been no impaiment in the carrying value of the trading propertics as

of 31 December 2017.

Trading properties in South Africa have been pledged as security against borrowing fadlities of the Group

{note 26).

18 Avaliable for sale Investments

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Locsal quoted securitias 40,161 171,400
Foreign quoted securities 14,082 44 817
Locat unquoted securifies 6,342,882 8.80683,414
Forelgn unquotad securities 8,693,742 12,760,043
Managed funds 28,835 730,216
18,117,502 22,889,788
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18  Avallabie for sale investments (continued)

Foreign and local unquoted investments amounting ro KID764,220 (31 December 2016: KD790,326) ase catried
al cost less impaitment, if any, since theit fair values cannot be reliably determined. Management is not aware
of any circumstances that would indicate impairment in value of these investments.

During the year, the Group recognised an impairment loss of KD1,557,693 (31 December 2016: KD1,519,085)
in respect of certain available for sale investments. Management has performed an analysis of the underdying
investments which indicates that there is no further impairment.

Available for sale investments amounting to K1D5,822,770 (31 December 2016: KID6,460,007) ate pledged as
security against borrowing facilities of the Group (note 26).

19 Investment properties
The movement in investment properties is as foliows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Carrying value al the beglnning of the year 10,828,813 10,341,982
Change In falr value arising during the year — below (a) 281,185 1,626 505
Disposals during the year (5,192,781) (944,122)
Foreign cummency adjustment 626,850 (197,652)
Ending balance 6,542,087 10,826,813

The details of fair valuation of investment properties are disclosed in note 36.3.

Investment properties amounting to KID4,525,838 (31 December 2016: KID7,438,1 39) are pledged as security
against borrowing facilities of the Group (note 26).

20 Investment in assoclates
The details of the associates are as follows:

Place of 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Company name Princlpal Activities Incorporation 217 2016
% %
Arzan Financial Group For Financing and
Investment — KPSC(Quoted) Financing Kuwalt 16.87 17.53
Neova Sigorta Insurance Company ("Neova™)*  Insurance Turkey 35 a5
Yotel Investment Limited — UK* Investment UK . 40.38
Legend & IFA Developments (Pty) Lid * Property development South Africa 80 50
IFA Investments (Switzerland) SA (b) investments Switzerand - 25
Zamzam Religious Tourtem Co. — KSCC Hajf & Umrah Kuwalt 20 20
Abwab Capital Limited Investments UAE 819 45,66
Wegaya Takaful Insurance and Reinsurance
Company-SSC (Quoted)” Insurance Saudi Arabla 20 20

* Associates held through Group's subsidiaries.

During the year, IFA Investments (Switzetland) SA was liquidated tesulting in a loss of KD603.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Investment in assoclates (continued)

The movement of the investment in 2ssodiates is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018

KD KD
Carrying value al the beginning of the year 41,103,181 42,045,744
Additions 20,536 275,952
Disposals (a and b) (6,014,579) (3,010,266)
Share of results of associales 2,229,926 3,203,176
Dilution gain 38,234 -
Impairment (c) (1,842,811} {30,759)
Reversal of impairment (note 12b) 1,493,827 -
Share of other comprehensive income 2319417 845,330
Forelgn exchange translation adjustment {114,933) (2,625,008)
38,832,258 41,103,181

8)

b)

During the year, the Group sold part of im shares in Aezan for 3 total consideration of KD185,613
realising a net loss of KD611,998.

During September 2017, the Group disposed 78% of its 39.6% holding in Yotel Investments I.td to
related parties for total aggregate considerations of KID9,365,318 resulting in a gain of KI)4,974,088.
The sales considerations were settled by way of setting it ofF against the balances due to the same related
parties as of the transaction date. Consequent to the disposal the management concluded that the Group
lost its significant influence over Yotel Investments Ltd,

Further during December 2017, the Group entered into another agreement to dispose the remaining
shares of Yotel Investment Ltd, for a total consideration of KID2,255466 realizing a gain of
KD1,076,165.

As a results, the Group fully disposed its interest in Yotel Investment Ltd as of 31 December 2017 and
accordingly, the operation of IFA Yotel Investment FZE (the whally owned subsidiary company created
with the objective of holding the equity interest of Yotel Investment Ltd) ceased and IFA Yotel
Investment FZE does not have any other assets and lisbilities as of that date, except for the inter group
payables.

Consequently, the currency exchange losses accumulated on translation of the above foreign subsidiary
in other comprehensive income totalling to KID2,880,593 was reclassified to consolidated stement of
profit or loss during the year as part of the realized gain on sale of the associate. The net gain on sale of
the associate amounted to KID3,169,660.

The Group recognised an impairment loss of KD1,442,811 aguinst the embedded goodwill included in
its investment in Neova Sigozta Insurance Company based on impairment assessment prepared by

management of the subaidiary.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20 Investment in assoclates (continued)

d) The Group’s subsidiary has discontinued to recognise its share of further losses of the assodiate (Weqaya
Takaful Insorance and Reinsurance Company) with carrying value of KD1 from 1 April 2014 in
accordance with IAS-28. The Group’s share of unrecognised losses of the assodiate and its fair value as
at 31 Decernber 2017 cannot be deteomined because the investee company’s shares have been
suspended from trading since 3 June 2014. If the investee company subsequently reports profit, the
Group will resume recognising its share of these profits only after its share of profits equal the share of

losses not recognised.

¢) Invesunent in associates amounting to KD1,803,732 (31 December 2016: KD2,089,081) is pledged as

security against Group's borrowings (note 26).

Summarised financial information of Group’s material 2ssociates are set out below. The summartsed financial
information below represents the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associates and not the
Group’s share of these amounts adjusted for differences in accounting polides between the Group and its

associates.

%) Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment - KPSC (Quoted):

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Non-curment assets 168,983,803 158,787,385
Current assafs 33,408,040 35,240,848
Total assets 202,371,843 182,017,311
Non-current liabilities (59,687,454) (84,810,483)
Current liabilities (19,018,691) {18,168,555)
Total llabllities (79,004,145} (82,877,038)
Net assets attributable to the owner of the Parent Company 123,367,698 109,040,273
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Revenue 8,316,688 8,020,010
Profit for the year 3,203,072 3,615,001
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 9,833,398 (5,286,082)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 13,036,468 (1,880,001)




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20 Investment In assoclates (continued)

a) Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment - KPSC (Quoted): (continued)

Reconciliation of the abcve summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the
consohdated statement of finandal position is given helow:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2017 2018

KD KB
Group's ownership interest (%) 16.87% 17.53%
Nei assets of the assodate 123,367,698 109,040,273
Group's share of net assets 20,808,149 19,117,242
Carrying amount 20,808,149 19,117,242
Market price 3,898,352 4,604,435

No dividends were received from Arzan during the years 2017 and 2016.

Management believes that the current market price per share of its investment in Arzan is not indicative of its
fair value. Mansgement has also obtained valuation of the investment and concluded that there is no impairment
of its equity investment in Arzan.

b) Neova Sigorta Insurance Company (Unquoted):

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Non-current assets 2,066,680 1,052,815
Current assets 122,946,380 100,672,249
Total assets 128,013,048 101,725,184
Non-current liabllities (1,881,561) {2,358,728)
Current liabilities {101,648,001) (84,077,308)
Total llabllittes (103,627,562) (88,434,036)
Net asseata 21,385,486 15,281,128
Year ended Yeear ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Revenue 05,082,256 66,399,226
Profit for the year 7,850,887 9,683,818
Other comprehensive loss - 29,930
Total comprehensive income for the year 7,550,887 9,713,749
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20 Investment in associates (continued)

b) Neova Sigorta Insuraace Company (Unquoted): (continued)
Recongiliation of the above summarised finandial information of the associate with the catrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position is given below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2017 2016

KD KD
Group's ownership interesi 35% 5%
Net assets of the associate 21,385,488 15,201,128
Group's share of net assets 7.484,921 5,351,885
Goodwill 5,848,554 7,291,385
Carrying amount 13,333,475 12,843,260

Management of the Group assessed the fair value of the embedded goodwill included in its investment in
Neova Sigorts Insurance Company based on a conservative approach. Accordingly, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of KIJ1,442,811 against this goodwill in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss for the
current year.

¢) Legend & IFA Developmennt (Pty) Ltd (Unquoted):

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Non-current assais 13,387,888 15,381,835
Curmrent asseis 704,712 432,052
Total ansete 14,072,388 15,614,787
Non-current liabilties (1,873,471) {1,880,703)
Currenl liabilites (918,832) (16,449,538)
Total [iabllities {2,590,303) {18,330,241)
Net agsets 11,482,085 (2,515,454)
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Revenue 1,602,522 1,026,088
Loss for the year (83,518) {421,840)
Other comprehensive loss for the year - (18,895)

Tolal comprehensive lose for the year (83,518) {440,835)




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20 Inveatment In associates (continued)

c) Legend & IFA Developmennt (Pty) Led (Unquoted): (continued)
Reconciliation of the abave summarised financial information of the associnte with the carrving amount in the

consolidated statemnent of financal posttion is give belows

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Group's ownership interest 60% 50%
Net assets of the associate 11,482,098 (2,515,454)
Groups' share of net assets 5,741,047 (1,257,721
Other adjustments (5,741,047) 1,257,727
Partners’ loan 4,854,879 3,042,910
Carrying amount 4,854,679 3,042,810
Below is the agpregate information for the individually immaterial assodiates.
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 3 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Group's share of the (losses)/profits (15,118) 80,678
Group's share of total comprehensive (losses)/income (15,118) 80,878
Aggregate carying amount of Group's interest in these associstes 37,858 97,114
21 Goodwlill
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Carrying value st the beginning of the year 40,174,557 40,224,898
Arising from disposal of subsidiary - {516)
Impaiment {1,863,76T) -
Foreign exchange translation adjustments 311 (49,825)
38,550,101 40,174,557

Camying value at the end of the year




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

21 Goodwlll (continued)
The goodwil consists of the following;

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
IFA Hotels and Resorts Company-KPSC 348,550,101 38,527,008
Dana Real Estate Company - 1,646,569
33,550,101 40,174 557

During the year, the Group impaired goodwill of Dana Real Estate Compaay in full

TFA Hotels and Resorts Company-KPSC
Goodwill acquired through business combination with indefinite life has been allocated to the entire subsidiary,
IFA Hotcls end Resorts Company-KPSC (cash generating unit), for impsirment testing;

The recoversble amount of rhe cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
petiod.

Key assumpiions used for rhe value in use calewlations

The calculation of value in use is most sensitve to the following assumptons:

* Gross margins,

* Discount rates and

* Growth rate to extrapolate cash flows beyond forecast pedod

Gross matgins are based on average values achieved in the last theee years preceding the start of the budget
petiod. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated market conditions.

Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks spedific to cash genersting unit. The discount
ratc wes estimated based on the average percentage of a weighted average cost of capital for the subsidiary,

Projected growth rates and local inflation rate assumptions are based on pubiished research.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With rcgard o the assessment of value in use of the cash-generating unit, management believes that no
reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to
materdally exceed its tecoverable amount,

22 Properties under development
The movemnent in properties under development is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2017 2018
KD KD
Camrying value at the beginning of the year 70,748,732 80,508,538
Additions during the year 32,574,195 9,728,052
Cost Incurred during the year (21,605,876) (9.117.541)
Arising from disposal of eubsidiary - (10,765,148)
Transferred to recaivables and other assets (91,316)

Forelgn exchange translation adjustments {31,673) 480,147

81,786,679 70,748,732
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

22 Properties under development (continued)
In e opinion of management, there is no mpairment in the carrying velues of the propesties uncler
development as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2026: KD Nil.).

The above balance consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2017 2018

KD KD
Ccat of land:
- UAE (Balqgls Residence & C14 property) 26,882,119 34,364,873
- Zimbali Prescint Real Estate 257,082 255631

27,239,171 34,620,504

Construction and piling works 43,968,449 15,736,544
Other costs refated to construction 10,577,958 20,392,884
Total costa 81,705,579 70,748,732

Properties under development amounting to KID34,033,854 (31 December 2016: KID34,620,504) are pledged
as security against borrowing faciliies of the Group (note 26),

23  Capltal work In progress
These represent hotel and other capital projects under construction in UAE.

Capital work in progress consists of the following:

31 Dac. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Land cost-crascent Paim Jumeirah 46,358,288 48,380,845
Construction and pilling works 287,604 200,120
46,843,792 48,560,074
The movement in capital work in progress is as follows:
31 Deec, 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD
Carmying value at the beginning of the year 46,560,974 46,700,581
Additiona during the year - 13,945
Forelgn currency tranelation adjustments 62,018 (153,532)
46,043,792 46,560,074

In the opinion of the management, there has been no impairment in the carrying values of the knd as at 31

December 2017 (31 December 2016: KD Nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

24 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Land and building with a catrying value of KD7,118,387 (31 December 2016: KID6,878,244) located in South
Alfrica have been pledged as security for team loan facility obtained by subsidiary’s of Group located in South
Africa. Further building with carrying value of KDD80,568,576 (2016: KD81.173,817) located in UAR has been
pledged as security for loan facility obtamed by subsidiary’s of Group located in UAE {see note 26).

25 Payables and other ilabllitles

31 Dee. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD

Accounts payable 20,017,296 14,613,430
Accrued expenses 11,494,209 8,599,047
Dividends payable 566,842 568,781
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences 2,484,225 2,476,455
Netlonal Labour Support Tax 7,881,758 7,760,874
Zakat provision 744,148 805,716
Provision for employees’ end of service benefils and leave 2,368,188 2,808,088
Deferred income 2,427,120 2,215,512
Accrued retention payable 5,848,389 4,787,460
Accrued construction costs w277 35,838
Refundable depasits on cancellation and resale of unils 3,728,930 1,538477
Land transfer fee payable 228,636 330,485
Provigion for loans recaivable 1,556,000 1,556,000
Amount due to pelicyholders 3,334,117 3,871,780
Other payables 11,010,213 10,768,506

73,630,205 62,652,236

Other payable includes post-dated cheques amounting to KID1,881,239 (31 December 2016: KD1,157,173)
issued against settlement of legal cases filed by unit holders in Balqis Residence FZE (UAE — sub — Subsidiary).
Out of these, post-dated cheques amounting to KID1,799,466 (31 December 2016: KID1,123,670) have been
issued in respect of refunds of deposits received from customers and their maturities are as pet a court order.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

26 Borrowings (continued)
The borrowings are pledged against Group’s essets are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2017 2018
KD KD
Restricted balances (Note 15) 340,448 346,446
Investments at falr value through profit or loss 20,832 140,650
Trading properties {nate 17) 8,219,114 3,242,118
Available for sale invesiments (note 16) 5,822,770 6,460,007
Investment in associate (note 20) 1,803,732 2,088,081
Investment properiles (nota 19) 4,525,838 7,438,139
Properties under development (note 22) 34,033,854 34,620,604
Property, plant and equipment (note 24) 87,688,963 88,062,081
investment in a subsidiary (note B) 57,781,228 58,402,509
Total assets pladged 197,220,774 200,791,521

27 Advances recelved from customers

These balances represent amounts collected in advance from customers of a subsidiary company on the sale of

residential flate currently under construction by the subaidiary.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2017 2018

KD KD
Balance at the beginning of the year 7,381,111 22,224,779
Advances received during the year 18,132,839 9,047,818
Revenue recognised during the year (19,817,038) (15,850,250)
Deposil transferred to other payables - {3,468,746)
Deposit refunded upon cancalation (2,504,860) (1,922,393)
Arising from disposal of subsidiary - (658,064)
Foreign currency {ranslation adjusiment 635,683 (1,011,033)
Balance at end of the year 3,537,137 7,381,111

286 Share capital

The authodsed, issued and paid up share capital of the Parent Company comprised of 720,000,000 shares of 100

Fils each, all fully paid (31 December 2016: 720,000,000 shares of 100 Fils each).
Share premium is not available for distribution, unless otherwise stipulated by local laws.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Treasury shares

31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2016
Number of Market Number of Market
shares % Cost Value shares % Cost Value
KD KD KD KD
47,110,564 6.54 32,767,404 1,361,485 47.110,564 ©6.54 32,757 404 1,460,427

30 Reserves

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company'’s articles of association, 10% of the profit
attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat provizion, NLST
provision and directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to statutory reserve. No transfer is required in a year
when losses are made or whete cumulative losses exist. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
annual transfer when the reserve equals or exceeds 50% of the paid-up share capital

Distribution of the statutoty reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of & dividend of
5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained camings are not sufficient for the payment of a
dividend of that amount.

Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Parent Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit artributable to shareholders
of the Parent Company befare contribution to KFAS, Zakat provision, NLST provision and directors’
temuneration is to be transferred to voluntary reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
transfers by a resolution of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors. There are no restrictions on distribution
of voluntary reserve. No transfer is required in a year when losses are made or when cumulative losses exist.

31 Flduclary accounts

The Group manages financial portfolios on behalf of others, mutual funds, and maintains cash balances and
securities in fduciary accounts, which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Assets under management control as at 31 December 2017 amounted to KIDD29,088 883 3
December 2016: KID35,831,487). The Group eamed management fees of KD60,785 (31 December 2016:
KID76,844) from these activities.

32 Annual general assembly

The board of directors of the Parent Company propose not to distribute any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2017. This proposal is subject to the approval of the Parent Company’s shareholders at the Annual
General Assembly.

The Annual General Assembly of the Shareholders held on 31 July 2017 approved the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and approved the directors’ proposal not to
distribute any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016,



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

33 Capltal Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments

At 31 December 2017, the Group has capital commitments with respect to fnancing the construction of real
estate projects located in Dubai — UAE, Beirut —Lebanon, and South Africa. The Group’s share of funds
necessary to finance these projects is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2017 2016
KD KD
Estimaled and confracted commitment dus on account of revenue projects 20,153,148 38,615,403
Postdated cheques issued 1,799,466 1,123,870

The Group expects to finance the future expenditure commitments from the following sources:

a) sale of investment properties;

b) advances from customers;

) increase of share capital;

d) payments provided by the sharcholders, related entitics, joint ventures; and
¢) borrowings, if required.

Expected financing rates from the above sources are dependent on the source of finanding and management
estimates of the best financing available at the time they become due.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Related partles transactions and balances

Related parties represen: major sharcholders, ditectors and key management persotnel of the Group, and entities
controlled, jointly controlled or signiticantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these
transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions between the Parent Company and its
subsidiaties which are related parties of the Patent Company have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entities entered into the following transactions with related parties that are not
members of the Group:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Balances included In the consolldated statement of financial position:
Amounts due from related parties * 1,627 648 487,027
Amounts due to related parties — assocate 383,636 -
Amaounis due to related parties — others 24,752,409 21,448,538
Trensactions Inciuded In the consolidated statemant of profit or leas:
Finance costs 334186 —A2647
Dividend income 221,218 240,895
Galn on sale of available for sale investments 45664 -
Gain on sale of subsidiaries (note 8) - 4|B10|795
Reversal of pravisions no longer required (note 12 c) 1,004,438 -
Gain on sale of shares in assaciates (net of translation) 2,703,327 915,560
ey managsment compensation of the Group:
Short-tarm banefits 534,164 987,754

* Due from related parties are stated net of a provision of KDD481,912 (2016: KD1,486,350).
Due from telated parties are non-interest bearing and have no specific repayment terms.

Due to related parties include balance amounting to KID8,047,727 (31 December 2016: K1D7,720,393) and
carries interest ranging from 2.5% to 4.5% (31 December 2016: 2.5% to 4.5%) per annum and has no specific
repayment date. The remaining balances of KD17,088,318 (31 December 2016: KID13,728,145) are non-
interest bearing and have no specific repayment terms.

36 Falr value measurement

36,1  Fair value hierarchy
Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date,

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial posiion
are grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability
of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Falr value measurement (continued)

36,1  Fair value bierarchy (continued)

* Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets ot Liabilities;

» Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (Le. derived from prices); and

» Level 3 fair value measuremnents are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobsetvable inputs).

36.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The cazrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and ligbilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Financlal assets:
Loans and recelvables at amortissd cost:
- Cash and cash equivalents 12,180,584 8,647,203
- Receivables and other assats 16,009,844 11,417,981
- Due from releted parties 1,927,648 487,027
Investments at fair value through profft or loss:
-At fair value 95,304 246 982
Avallable for sale Investments;
-At fair value 14,353,282 21,878,683
-At cost 764,220 780,626
45,340,882 43,469,062

Financial liablitties:
Financlal liabilities at amortised cost:
-Payabies and other llabilities 73,530,205 62,852,236
-Due 1o related parties 25,136,045 21,448,538
-Borrowings 195,245,229 184,304,431

283,911,479 278,405,205

Management considers that the carrying amounts of loans and receivables and Anandial liabilities, which are
stated at amortised cost, approximate their fair values. Certain available for sale investment is carried at cost for
reason specified in note 18.

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of
significant input to the fair value measurement.

The finandal assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated financial
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Falr value measurement (continued)
36.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments

31 December 2017
Lavel 1 Lovel 2 tavel 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
Investments at fair vaiue through
profit or loas
Investments held for frading:;
Local quoted securities 41,808 - - 41,808
Local unquoted securities - - 53,496 53,486
Avallable for sale investments
l.ocal quoted securities 40,151 - - 40,151
Foreign quoted securities 14,082 - - 14,082
Managed funds - 28,835 - 26,835
Unquoted securities - - 14,272,214 14,272,214
96,041 26,835 14,328,710 14,448,586
31 December 20116
Investments et fair value through
profit or foss

investments held for trading:
Local quoted securities 213,430 - - 213,430
Local unquoted securities - - 31.597 31,597
Forelgn quoted securities 1,985 - - 1,985
Avallable for sale Investments
Local quoted securities 171,498 - - 171,489
Forelgn quoted securities 44,617 - - 44,617
Managed funds - 730,218 - 730,216
Unquoted securities - - 20,932,631 20,932,631

431,511 730,216 20,964,228 22,125,955

There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the reporting period,

Measurement at fair value
The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting period.

2) Quoted securities
All the listed equity securities are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

b) Ungquoted securitice

The consclidated financial statements include holdings in vnlisted securities which are measured at fair value.
Fair value is estimated nsing a discounted cash flow model or other valuation technigues which include some
assumptions that are not supportble by observable market prices or rates.

c) Investment in managed funda
Investment funds managed by other mainly comprise of unquoted units and the fair value of these units has
been determined based on net assets values reported by the fand manager as of the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements
The Group's finandal assets and liabilities classified in level 3 vses valuation techniques based on significant
inputs that are not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be

reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows:
Investments at falr value

through profit or loss
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018
KD KD

Opening balance 31,397 71,272
Additions 50,000 -
BGains or losses recognised in:
- Consolidated statement of profit or loss (28,101) (39,875)
Closing balance 53,496 31,587

Avallable for sale investments

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2010
KD KD

QOpening balance 20,932,831 22,986,781
Transferred to level 3, previously carried at cost - 572,739
Additlons 2,834,634
Disposals (8,087,262 ) (1.131,559)
impairment (1,567,693)
Gains or losses recognised in:
- Other comprehensive income/(loss) 349,004 (1.485,330)
Closing balance 14,272,214 20,932,831

363  Fair value meaourement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on 2
recurring basis:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

31 December 2017

Investment properties

Land in Jordan - - 417,983 417,883
Land in UAE - - 517,038 517,038
Apartments In Dubai — UAE - - 127126 127,126
Buildings in Leabanon - - 54,081 954,081

Apartments In Portugal 4,525,839 4525839

- - 6,642,087 8,842,087

Bulldings in Lebanon
Apartments in Portugal

2,314,775 2,314.775
7,438,130 7,438,139

31 December 2016

Inveatment properties

Land in Jordan - - 396,263 308,263
Land in UAE - - 542 102 542 102
Apartments in Dubal — UAE - - 135,534 135,534

- - 10,628,813 10,828,813
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Fair value measurement (continued)

36.3  Fair value measurement of non-financial asscts (continued)

The fair value of the investment properties has been determined based on valuations obtained from two
independent valuers, who are specialised in valuing these types of investment properties. The significent inputs
and assumptons are developed in close consultarion with management. For the valuztion purpose, the Group
has elected to use the lower value of the two valuations in accordance with local regularities.

The fair value of investment pmperucs was determined seing the market comparison approach The market
approach reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties and incorporates
adjustments for factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances, current use
and constructon costs.

‘The non-financial assets within this leve] can be reconciled from beginning ro ending balances s follows:

Investment properties
Total
31 Dec. 31 Dac.
2017 2016
KD KD
Opening balance 10,826,813 8,743,810
Transferred to level 3 previously carried at cost - 1,598,181
Disposal (5,192,784) (B44,121)
Gains or losses recognised in censolidated etatement of profit or losa:
- Change in falr vaiua of investment properties 281,185 1,628,585
- Foreign curency translation differences 628,850 (197,852)
Closing balance 6,542,087 10,828,813
Total amount included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
unrealised loss on level 3 agsats 261,185 1,626,585

37 Risk management objectives and policles
The Group's activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risks (including currency risk, interest rate
risk, and price risk), credit risk and liquidity dsk.

The board of directors of the Parent Company is ultimatcly responsible for setting out risk strategies and
objectives and policies for their management. The Group’s risk management is carried out by the central risk
management function and focuses on actively securng the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimizing the potental adverse effects on the Group’s finandal perfarmance through internal dsk reports
which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. Long term finandial investments are managed to
generate lasting returns.

The Group does not enter into or trade finandal instruments, including derivative finandal instruments, for
speculative purposes.

The most significant finandial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

37 Risk management objectives and policles (continued)
371  Market risk

a) Foreign currency risk management

The Group mainly operates in the GCC, South Africa and other Middle Eastem countries and is exposed to
foreign currency risk atising from various foreign currency exposures, prmarily with respect to UAE Dirham,
Furo, South Africa Rand, Sterling Pound and US Dollar. Foreign exchange risk adses from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

To mitigate the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored and
forward exchanged contracts are entered into in accordance with the Group’s risk management policies.
Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish shatt-term foreign currency cash flows (due
within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows. Where the amounts to be paid and received in specific
currency are expected to largely offset one another, no further hedging activity is undertaken. Forward foreign
contracts are mainly entered inro for significant long-term foreign currency exposures that are not expected to
be offset by other foreign currency transactions.

The Group had the following significant exposures denorninated in foreign currendies, translated into Kuwaiti
Dinar at the closing rate at year end:

31 Dec. 31 Dee.
2017 2016
KD KD
UAE Dirhams {119,880,345) (118,394 446)
Euro {9,578,844) (11,153,772)
South African Rand {15,044,577) (13,833.815)
Steriing Pound {416,652) (234 445)
US Dollar {40,585,862) (39,068,216)

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened/wcakened aginst the foreign currencies assuming the sensitivity given
in the table below, then this would have the following impact on the (loss)/profit for the year:

31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2018

Changein Losg for the Changein  Profit for the

variables year variables year

% KD % KD
UAE Dirham 10.84 731,326 +0.73 +B70,047
Euro +4.70 1460,196 +2.73 1264,505
South African Rand 18,00 902,878 +13.72 11,886,857
Sterling Pound $3.20 +13,333 +16.48 +38,620
US Dollar 10.61 247,461 #0.73 1286,247

The above percentages have been determined based on the average foreign exchange rates in the previous
twelve months.

Exposures to foreign cxchange rates vary duting the year depending on the volume and mature of the
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group's exposure to
foreign currency risk.

There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

37 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
371  Marcket risk (continued)

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitubility or the
fair values of financial instruments. The Board has established levels of interest mte risk by setting limits on the
intetest rate gaps for stipulated periods.

Provisions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained within
established limits.

The effective interest rate (effective yicld) of monetaty financial instruments is the rate that, when used it &
present value calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a
fixed rate instrument carried at amorrised cost and a current rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument
carried at fair value.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the (loss)/ptofit for the year to a reasonably possible change in
interest rates of + 1% and — 1% (31 December 2016: + 1% and —1%) with effect from the beginning of the
year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market condition.
The calculations are based on the Group’s financial instruments held at each date of the coneolidated statement
of finandial position. All other variables are held constant. Thete has been no change during the year in the
methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis.

31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2018
+1% 1% 1% 1%
KD KD KD KD
Loss for the year 1,952,462  (1,952,452) 1,043,044 (1,043,044)

c) Equity price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as 2 result of changes in market prices, whether
these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all
instruments, traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its listed equity
investments which are primarily located in Kuwait, UK, USA, Portugal, Saudi Armbia and Dubai. Equity
investments are classified either as “investments at fair value through profit or loss” or “avaihble for sale
investments™.

To manage its price risk adsing from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolic is done in accordance with the limits determined by the Group. Thete has been
no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis,

The equity price risk sensitivity is determined on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If

equity prices had been 10% higher/lowet, the effect on the (loss)/profit for the year and equity for the year
ended 31 December would have been as follows:

(Loas)/profit
___for the year Equity
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2018 2017 2016
KD KD KD KD

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4,181 121,540

Avallable for sale investments 65,423 421,612
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

a7 Risk management objectives and policles (continued)
371  Market risk (continued)

c) Equity price risk (continued)

The Group’s sensitivity to price rsk in regards to its unquoted investments cannot be reliably determined due
to numerous uncertainties and non-availability of reliable information to determine future price of such
investments.

37.2 Creditrisk

Credit risk is the gisk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a fnancial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit dsk is monitored cn 2n ongoing
basis. The Group secks to avoid undue concentrations of fisks with individuals or groups of customers in specific
locations or business through diversification of its activities, It also obtains security when appropriate,

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assefs recognised at the date
of the consolidated statement of finandal position, as sunmarized below:

3 Dec. 31 Dec.
2017 2016
KD KD
Cash and cash equivalants 12,180,584 5,647,283
Investments at fair value through profit or ioss 85,304 246,992
Receivables and other asaeta 16,008,844 11,417,061
Due from related parties 1,927,648 487,027
Availabla for sale investments 18,117,602 22,689,788
45,240,892 43,469,062

Except for receivables and other assets teferred to in note 16, and available for sale investments refetred to in
note 18, none of the above financial assets are past due orimpaired. The Group continuously monitors defaults
of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and incorporates this
information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports
on customers and other counterparties are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. The Group’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are
neither past due nor impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

In respect of teceivables, the Group iz not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single
counterparty. The credit risk for bank balances are considered negligible, since the counterparties are teputable
financial institutions with high credit quality. Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is
set out in note 37.3.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

37 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

373  Concentration of assets
The Group operates in different geographical areas. The disteibution of financial assets by geograpbic region is as
follows:

GCC Asla Africa Europe USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD

At 31 Decomber 2017
Assots
Cesh and caeh eguivalents 8,951,014 3,356 146,609 5,080,618 - 12,180,684
Inveatments at fzIr vatue through

profit or loss 95,304 - - - - 85,304
Recelvables and other zesets 12,721,661 14,019 2,601,278 712,088 -« 18,009,844
Due from related parties 944 614 p22 982,212 - - 1,927,848
Avellable for sale Investments 8407,470 40,207 8,680 1,135,385 7,827,690 16,117,502
Total assets 27,119,883 50484 3,695,870 6,037,045 7,827,680 48,340,882
Al 31 Decamber 2016
Assais
Cash and cash equivaients 8,216,885 20,600 313,660 64,758 1,480 6,647,283
Inveatments at falr value through

profit or loss 245,028 - - 1,064 - 248,092
Raecelvables and other assats 8317014 18,756 3,083,473 530,483 1.458,255 11,417,981
Due from releted partias 288,009 - - 198,128 - 467,027
Avallable for sale investmants 8,817,010 41089 1,468,525 1400201 10,841,164 22,669,788
Total assets 23,885,746 91354 4075548 2225515 124008890  43.409,062

374  Liquidity risk management

Liquidity isk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as posaible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabiliies when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incutring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Ultimate responeibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an
approptiate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medivm and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, banking facilitics and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and lisbilities.

The table below analyses the Group’s finandal liabilities based on the remaining period at the financial position
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual discounted cash
flows.

Upto Fromito 6
1 year yoars Total
KD KD KD

31 December 2017
Financlal Habllities
Payables and other liabilities 58,197,445 15,332,760 73,530,205
Due to relatad parties 25,138,045 - 28,136,045
Bomowings 72,285,464 122,050,775 195,246,228
Advances received from customers - 3,537,737 3,837,737

155,618,944 141,030,272 297,449,216
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ar Risk management cbjectives and policles (continued)

374  Liquidity tisk management (continued)
Up to Fromtto §
1 year years Total
KD KD KD
31 December 2018
Financial llabilitles
Payablea and othaer liabillties 49,059,486 13,592,750 62,852,236
Due to related parties 21,448,538 - 21,448,538
Bormrowings 49,086,834 144,337,797 194,304,431
Advances received from customers 7,361,111 7,381,111
120,474,658 165,291,658 285,766,316
Maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2017:
Within Over
1 ysar 1 year Total
KD KD KD

31 Decembar 2017
Asgets
Cash and cash equivalents 12,180,584 - 12,190,504
Investments at fair value through profit or loas 85,304 - 95,304
Recelvables and other assets 21,172,332 - 21,172,332
Due frem related parties 1,927,648 - 1,927,848
Trading properlies 5,410,833 - 9,410,633
Available for aale investments - 16,117,502 15,117,502
Investment properties - 6,542,087 6,542,087
Investrment In assoclates - 38,832,288 38,032,258
Goodwill - 38,660,102 38,550,102
Properties under development 81,785,579 - 81,785,579
Capitel work in pragress - 46,643,792 44,643,792
Property, plant and equipment - 104,544,237 104,544,237

128,682,080 250,220,058 376,012,038
Liabilities
Payables and other |iabllities 68,107 445 15,332,760 73,630,205
Dus to related parties 28,138,045 - 25,136,045
Bomowings 72,285,454 122,968,775 186,245,229
Advances recelved from customers - 3,637,737 3,637,737

155,618,044 141,830,272 207,449,218
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37 Risk management objectives and policles (continued)

374  Liquidity dsk management (continued)
Maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016:

Within Over
1 year 1 year Total
KD KD KD

31 Decomber 2016
Assete
Cash and cash equivalents 8,647,293 - 8,647,293
investments at falr value through profit or loss 246,992 - 248,992
Receivablea and other essels 17,249,083 - 17,240,083
Due from related parties 487,027 - 487,027
Trading properties 7,511,087 - 7.511,087
Available for sale investmenis - 22,669,789 22,660,789
Investment properties - 10,828,813 10,826,813
Investment in associates - 41,103,181 41,103,181
Goodwill - 40,174,557 40,174,567
Properties under development 70,748,732 - 70,748,732
Capitat work in progress - 48,560,074 48,580,974
Property, plent and equipment - 103,529,030 103,520,030

104,890,204 264,804,344 389,754,548
Liabllities
Payablgs and other labllilles 55,848,833 7,005,403 62,652,236
Due to related parties 21,448, 538 - 21,448,638
Bomowings 40,088,634 144,337,797 184,304,431
Advancea received from custormers 7,361,111 - 7,381,111

134,423,116 151,343,200 285,766,318

38 Operational risk

Operational risk is the dsk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, human ervor, systems
failure or from extemal events. The Group has a set of policies and procedures, which are approved by the
Board of Directors and are applied to identify, assess and supervise operational tisk. The mansgement ensures
compliance with policies and procedures and monitors opetational risk as part of overall sk management.

39 Capital management objectives
‘The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to provide adequate retum to its sharcholders through the optimization of the capital structure.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholdets, return capital to sharcholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.
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39 Capital management objectives (continued)
The caputal structure of the Group consists of the following:

Gearing ratic
‘The Group’s fsk management reviews the capital soructure on a semi-annual basis, Ae part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with cach class of capital.

31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2017 2016
KD KD
Debt (a) 196,245,220 104,304,431
Cash and cash equivalents {note 15) (11,844,138) (8,300,847}
Net debt 163,401,091 186.003,584
Equity (b} 79,362,822 83,088,232
Net debt to equity ratio 231% 221%

a.  Debrtis defined as long and short term borrowings.
b.  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.





